1960

State of Utah v. Jesse M. Garcia, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 24th day of August, 1958, at approximately 8:00 p.m., LeRoy Joseph Verner was killed. The decedent was an inmate at the Utah State Prison, and the homicide occurred at the Prison in the attic to Cell Block A. The killing was accomplished by Mack Merrill Rivenburgh, Jr. (R. 381, 387, 505 and 721). There were two other inmates present in the attic at the time of the killing, Leonard Warner Bowne, and the appellant in this matter, Jesse M. Garcia, Jr.

Earlier that evening, Rivenburgh told the defendant to go get a knife (R. 717). The defendant went to an-

other inmate, Darrel Stark and told him that Rivenburgh wanted the knife (R. 302, 305, 364 and 365). When the defendant returned, Rivenburgh told him to go upstairs with Bowne and stand point (serve as a lookout) while Rivenburgh engaged in an act of perversion with the decedent (R. 717 and 718).

The defendant and Bowne went into the attic a few minutes prior to the arrival of Rivenburgh and the decedent (R. 718). After the latter two had entered the attic, Rivenburgh spoke to Bowne to make sure he and Garcia were standing watch. Bowne left the defendant by a ventilator, and went to close a grating which covered the place of entry (R. 718). At this instant a ruckus started (R. 718). There was hollering and kicking, and a great deal of noise (R. 719). Because of fear, defendant ran to help Rivenburgh protect himself (R. 412 and 413). The defendant was kicked by someone. He believed it was the decedent (R. 719). The defendant tried to "get" the decedent and grabbed his legs (R. 383 and 719). There was "twisting and turning all over the place" (R. 719). Rivenburgh lost his knife and asked for help to find it. The defendant let go of decedent's legs, and in the dark attic, attempted to find the lost knife (R. 719). Defendant felt something wet and sticky, and was very much afraid (R. 719). Rivenburgh said, "Let's split" (R. 720), and the defendant followed him out of the attic.

After leaving the attic, the three with the help of other inmates disposed of the bloody clothing and established alibis (R. 409 and 720). Sometime later, the

defendant concluded that the decedent had been killed (R. 721). At no time did the defendant hit the decedent with either his fists or a knife (R. 719 and 720). At no time did the defendant take part in any plan to kill the decedent or entertain any intent to kill (R. 385, 410 and 721). The defendant *first* learned of Rivenburgh's intent to kill the decedent and of the actual killing while alibis were being discussed *after the killing*. This was when Rivenburgh, Dalton, Stark, and the defendant were playing cards just before check-in time (9:00 p.m.) (R. 318 and 535). The defendant was present during subsequent conversations wherein Rivenburgh's intent and acts were discussed (R. 318, 349, 350, 373-377, 408 and 409), but at no time before the killing did he know that Rivenburgh intended to kill the decedent. On the contrary, defendant thought he was going to the attic to stand point for an act of sodomy (R. 340, 380, 381, 397, 460, 461, 478, 717 and 718).

Testimony was introduced concerning a conversation between Rivenburgh and another inmate, Randel, which took place on the 24th of August prior to the homicide. The drugged condition of the decedent was discussed. The decedent, as well as other inmates involved, including the witnesses for the state, had taken excessive amounts of amphetamine pills over a period of days prior to the homicide. During this conversation, Rivenburgh remarked that somebody was going to cut off the decedent's head if he continued to act as he had. This led Rivenburgh and Randel to a general discussion of various methods of homicide. Such talk was commonplace at the prison. Rivenburgh had threatened to

kill others on many occasions without doing so (R. 448 and 454). At the time of this conversation, the defendant was not present. He and another inmate, Dripps, were in another cell (R. 420 and 447), and neither of them heard the conversation.

Indulging in amphetamines and other drugs, possessing knives, threatening death, and engaging in acts of sodomy were not unusual activities for inmates of the Utah State Prison at this time -- especially Rivenburgh. It was a common practice for inmates to stand point for each other (R. 386-388).

The defendant was convicted of murder in the first degree. The detailed testimony introduced supports all of these facts. We will refer to the details of the testimony as they become applicable in stating our arguments.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL JURY IN THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE IMPROPERLY COMMUNICATED WITH A JUROR.

POINT II.

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW IN VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AMEND. XIV AND THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, ART. I, §12 IN THAT HE WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT ALL STAGES IN THE PROCEEDINGS.

POINT III.

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL IN THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE RECEIVED AN IMPROPER QUESTION

FROM A JUROR AND TRANSMITTED THIS IMPROPER QUESTION TO COUNSEL.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT SINCE THE JURY COULD NOT HAVE FOUND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY OF MURDER.

POINT V.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 43.

POINT VI.

THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 20 IS CONFUSING AND IN ERROR BECAUSE IT FAILS TO SEPARATE THE CRIME OF SODOMY FROM THE CRIME OF MURDER. AND IN ITS ABSTRACT FORM COULD ALLOW THE JURY TO FIND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF MURDER IF THEY BELIEVED HE AIDED AND ABETTED IN THE ACT OF SODOMY.

POINT VII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 17.

POINT VIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS NO. 19 AND NO. 21.

POINT IX.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 20.

POINT X.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO COMPEL THE PROSECUTION TO FURNISH TAPE RECORDINGS AND COPIES OF STATEMENTS MADE BY WITNESSES AND THE DEFENDANT.

POINT XI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL.

POINT XII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE TESTIMONY WHICH WAS ADMITTED ON THE STATE'S REPRESENTATION THAT IT WOULD SHOW A CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MURDER.

POINT XIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE CASE TO THE JURY ON THE QUESTION OF MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE SINCE AS A MATTER OF LAW, DEFENDANT'S MENTAL CONDITION PREVENTED HIM FROM PREMEDITATING OR DELIBERATING.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL JURY IN THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE IMPROPERLY COMMUNICATED WITH A JUROR.

On the last day of the trial, the trial judge requested counsel to meet with him in chambers. He then related a conversation which had taken place between himself and one of the jurors. The trial judge stated as follows:

"This morning about 8:30, a juror by the name of Armstrong, asked me, as I arrived at

the Courthouse, if he could ask me a question, and I told him "Yes."

"He came into Chambers, and he asked if the parties were going to introduce the tapes of the conversation between the two defendants.

"I told him I did not know. I would tell counsel that he had asked and leave it up to counsel.

"He also said that he was anxious [sic] to know, it was important, because he could not get an answer to a question in his mind, as to who did the stabbing.

"He said there was evidence that Garcia had the knife in the attic, in his hand, and that later on, another person had the knife, and he did not know who did the stabbing.

"I told him that I would relate his questions to counsel, and leave it up to counsel to either attempt to re-open their case and put in more evidence to clarify or take care of the matter on argument." (R. 855 and 856).

This action on the part of the trial judge was improper, prejudicial, and certainly constitutes a reversible error. See *State v. Crank*, 105 Utah 332, 142 P.2d 178 (1943); *State v. Anderson*, 65 Utah 415, 237 Pac. 941 (1925); *State v. Thorne*, 96 Utah 208, 117 Pac. 58 (1911).

The statutes of this state are explicit in regard to communication with the jury. The officer in charge of the jury must be sworn, ". . . to suffer no person to speak to them or communicate with them, nor to do so himself, on any subject connected with the trial, . . ." Utah Code Ann. §77-31-27 (1953).

The court must admonish the jury at each adjournment, “. . . that it is their duty not to converse among themselves *nor with anyone else* on any subject connected with the trial, . . .” Utah Code Ann. §77-31-28 (1953) (Emphasis added.).

It is elementary that communication with the jury must be prevented if the defendant is to have a fair trial. Article 1, §12 of the Utah Constitution guarantees the defendant a trial by an impartial jury. Certainly this impartiality cannot be insured if improper communication with the jury is allowed. See *State v. Anderson*, 65 Utah 415, 237 Pac. 941 (1925). The fact that the communicant was the judge does not remedy the error. To the contrary, the official office of the judge makes the communication all the more prejudicial, for the information the juror might gain, intentionally or indavertantly, would carry much greater force. The court in *Sargent v. Roberts*, 1 Pick. (Mass.) 337, 11 Am. Dec. 185 (1823), stated as follows:

“It is not sufficient to say that this power is in hands highly responsible for the proper exercise of it: the only sure way to prevent all jealousies and suspicions is to consider the judge as having no control whatever over the case, except in open court, in presence of the parties and their counsel. The public interest requires that litigating parties should have nothing to complain of or suspect in the administration of justice, and the convenience of jurors is of small consideration compared with this great object.”

The juror must be careful to hold himself above suspicion. In *State v. Anderson*, 65 Utah 415, 237 Pac.

941 (1925), it appeared that the prosecuting witness had given a juror a ride to and from the court everyday of the trial. The Utah court stated as follows:

“... it should also be remembered that, when a juror is selected by reason of his impartiality to determine not only the property rights between individuals, but in criminal cases the personal liberty of individuals charged with offenses, the law requires of the juror such conduct during that time that his verdict may be above suspicion as to its having been influenced by any conduct on his part during the trial. . . .”

In *State v. Thorne*, 96 Utah 208, 117 Pac. 58 (1911), a juror talked to someone over the telephone. It was held that this unexplained communication amounted to misconduct. The Utah court in so holding stated as follows:

“To obtain the free and dispassionate judgment of jurors in the trial of capital cases, long experience has demonstrated the necessity of preventing the jury from mingling or conversing with the people, and of keeping them secluded from all outside influences calculated to interfere with or affect their impartiality or judgment. These safeguards were at common law deemed essential to the right itself of trial by jury. That right with its ancient safeguards has been preserved in this country by Constitutions and statutes. An infraction of it calculated to impair the right cannot properly receive the sanction of the court without doing violence to such constitutional and statutory provisions. If it should be thought that they no longer serve a useful purpose, let them be abolished and taken out of the Constitution and statute and others substituted in their place. As long as they remain, it is the

duty of the courts to see that they are observed and obeyed."

This Court has dealt with the problem of communication with the jury on other occasions. In *State v. Crank*, 105 Utah 332, 142 P.2s 178 (1943), a juror conversed with the prosecuting witness. This was said to be improper even though the communication was merely for the purpose of renewing an old friendship. The Court stated that, "[i]n such instances, the verdict of the jury, like Caesar's wife, *must be above suspicion*."

Other jurisdictions have considered the question of communication with the jury, and the general rule holds such improper activity to be reversible. In *Doles v. State*, 97 Ind. 555 (1884), the unexplained presence of the bailiff in the jury room required a new trial. In *People v. Chambers*, 279 Mich. 73, 271 N.W. 556 (1937), a new trial was ordered even though the bailiff entered the jury room at the request of the jury to provide tobacco and water. It is clear that any discussion of the case by the bailiff in charge of the jury with the jurors will entitle the defendant to a new trial. See *Taylor v. State*, 18 Ala. App. 466, 93 So. 78 (1922); *People v. Kawoleski*, 313 Ill. 257, 145 N.E. 203 (1924); *Bramlett v. State*, 129 Neb. 180, 261 N.W. 166 (1935).

There are many cases involving communication with the jury by the judge. In *State v. Murphy*, 17 N.D. 48, 115 N.W. 84 (1908), the conduct of the judge in discussing the case with the jury in the jury room after their retirement for deliberation was held prejudicial error, regardless of whether the particular conversation in-

fluenced their decision. In the recent Utah case, *Johnson v. Maynard*, 9 Utah 2d 268, 342, P.2d 884 (1959), the trial judge entered the jury room to answer a question. This was done in the absence of and without the consent of counsel. After the incident the trial judge advised counsel and for the record made a general statement of what was done.

The Utah court held the conduct of the judge to be improper even though there was no question of his good intentions. Similar activity was held to be prejudicial error in *Ferdorer v. Northern Pacific Ry.*, 75 N.D. 139, 26 N.W. 2d 236 (1947). See also *State v. Waite*, 135 Wash. 67, 238 Pac. 617 (1925) (attempted robbery); *Bennett v. State*, 275 Pac. 390 (Okla. Crim. Rep. 1929) (assault to do bodily harm); *Wacaster v. State*, 172 Ark. 983, 291 S.W. 85 (1927) (murder; judge talked to foreman in hall outside of jury room; conviction reversed even though verdict had already been agreed upon); *State v. Matthews*, 191 N.C. 378, 131 S.E. 743 (1926) (murder); *Shields v. United States*, 273 U.S. 583 (1927) (conspiracy to violate prohibition act); *Williams v. Commonwealth*, 207 Ky. 807, 270 S.W. 61 (1925) (selling intoxicating liquor).

The only sure way to prevent suspicions of unfairness and possible impairment of confidence in the integrity of the court is to consider the judge as having no control over the case except in open court in the presence of counsel and the parties. See *Sargent v. Roberts*, 1 Pick. (Mass.) 337, 11 Am. Dec. 185 (1823). All questions of the jury should be considered here, and

if an answer can properly be given, it should be given here. The public interest requires that litigating parties should have nothing to complain of or suspect in the administration of justice. Certainly this interest is greater when the case is a criminal one and the crime is punishable by death. The maintenance of high ideals in this respect stems from consciousness on the part of those who participate in trials that proceedings are open to the public.

In *State v. Murphy*, 17 N.D. 48, 115 N.W. 84 (1908), the court stated as follows:

“As to the purity of the intentions of the judge in going into the jury room in this case, and there having the brief communication with the jury, no certificate or proof is necessary so far as this court is concerned, as it well knows that his uprightness and sincere desire to be absolutely just and fair in all cases are beyond question. That admitted fact, however, does not meet the question before us, which is: Did he do that which was beyond his judicial functions in respect to the case? We are forced to the conclusion that he he did. His presence in the jury room for any kind of communication with the jury is not contemplated by any provision of the statute. The opposite is the plain interference from the statute. All communication to the jury in open court is subject to exception by the parties, if deemed improper. If any communication is made to them in the jury room in the absence of the parties, no opportunity is afforded for objections and exceptions at the time. The open court is the place for communications to the jury in the presence of, or on notice to the attorneys. The jury room is for the jury alone, and no com-

munications are allowed with them in the room except upon orders from the court through the officer in charge of them, who is permitted to ask them whether they have agreed upon a verdict. All communications to the jury in reference to the case should be made in open court, and all communications to them in the jury room avoided. In this way all distrust and fear that something improper is said or done will be without foundation, and every act be subject to exception and review. Any communication by word or writing not in open court affects the efficiency of jury trials as a means of accomplishing justice after giving all parties full opportunity of being heard at all stages of the trial. A strict compliance with this practice of having all proceedings in court in the presence of counsel, or on notice to them, unless waived, is better than to countenance violations thereof unless prejudice is shown. . . . We think that any communication in this way as to the case should be prohibited and held prejudicial. It is against the policy of the law to indulge in secret communications or conferences with the jury or with jurors in reference to the merits or law of the case. To determine in each case whether prejudice resulted would be difficult, if not impossible, and justice will be better served by avoiding such communications entirely. The authorities are practically unanimous in condemning such communications, and in holding them prejudicial as a matter of law."

See also *State v. Wroth*, 15 Wash. 621, 47 Pac. 106 (1896).

The communication in the *Murphy* case took place in the jury room, while as in the instant case the communication was in the judge's chambers. This distinction makes little difference indeed. The conversation be-

tween the judge and the juror was a secret conversation. The defendant was not given notice, and was afforded no opportunity to be present. He had no chance to object to the questions or the answers, and is not even sure of what was said or the impact that it may have had on this jury.

The defendant has no burden of showing that the communication was prejudicial to his case or that the content of the conversation involved prejudicial matters or pertained to the case. One reason for this rule was stated in *State v. Murphy*, supra. *Sargent v. Roberts*, 1 Pick. (Mass.) 337, 11 Am. Dec. 185 (1823), also put forth this reason and in so doing stated:

“As it is impossible, we think, to complain of the substance of the communication, the only question is whether any communication at all is proper; and, if it was not, the party against whom the verdict was is entitled to a new trial.”

See also *Fina v. United States*, 46 F.2d 643 (10th Cir. 1931).

In *State v. Thorne*, 96 Utah 208, 117 Pac. 58 (1911) the state offered no evidence to dispute the defendant, and did not attempt to show that the communication was harmless. The state argued that prejudice could not be presumed from an unexplained communication. It was their position that the defendant was required to show that harmful information was communicated to the juror and that this information tended to influence his deliberations and verdict, and until such was shown, the state was not required to show the contrary.

The Utah court stated as follows:

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