1960

# State of Utah v. Jesse M. Garcia, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

NO PREJUDICIAL ERROR OCCURRED IN THE JUDGE'S HAVING A CONVERSATION WITH ONE OF THE JURORS OR CONVEYING THE SUBSTANCE OF IT TO COUNSEL; NOR WAS APPELLANT DENIED THE RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT ALL STEPS OF THE TRIAL BY VIRTUE OF THE CONVERSATION.

Appellant Garcia was not harmed in any way by the conversation between the judge and the juror. Nothing was added to the trial and nothing was taken away. The case went to the jury exactly as it stood. The conversation had no effect. It was not a part of the trial as such; and defendant's absence was not error.

The judge made a full and honest disclosure of the substance of the conversation. It consisted of an innocent question as to whether certain evidence would be introduced and a noncommittal answer given by the judge, not dealing in any way with the merits of the case.

The judge did not give any expression of opinion as to Garcia's guilt or innocence.

In fact, at the conclusion of the trial, as a further precaution, he gave Instruction No. 25, stating:

"If, during the course of the trial, the Court has said or done something which has suggested to you that it is inclined to favor the claims or po-

sition of either party, you will not suffer yourselves to be influenced by any such suggestion.

“I have not expressed nor intended to express, nor have I intended to intimate, any opinion as to which witnesses are or are not worthy of belief, or what inferences should be drawn from the evidence. If any expression of mine has seemed to indicate an opinion relating to any of these matters, you are instructed to disregard it.”

While not admitting any impropriety on the judge's part, Respondent nevertheless suggests that improper remarks or conduct of the trial judge may be cured by instruction to the jury to disregard them, unless they are so prejudicial to accused that their affect must be deemed ineradicable. 23 C.J.S. 987(b), page 339.

Our statutes intending to prevent jurors from discussing the merits of matters before them are necessary, of course. They were, however, enacted for the purpose of keeping the jury from conversing with people who might try to influence their opinions. The judge is in a different category altogether. Certainly, he is the one truly impartial person involved in the trial and by virtue of his office has had long and careful training in refraining from showing any disposition whatsoever in favor of either party.

The very nature of our judicial system requires that the judge be a man in whom trust may be reposed and whose official statements are to be believed.

The Utah cases cited by appellant in his brief seem divisible into two categories: (1) Those involving jurors

and a third person, not a judge; (2) those involving a judge in contact with jurors after the jury has retired to arrive at a verdict.

In most of the cases dealing with third parties, the nature of the conversation is unknown and therefore subject to unlimited conjecture. Here, however, the full substance of the conversation was given to counsel in the presence of the reporter and we *know* what was said. We also know that nothing in the conversation was acted upon by counsel. We know that Garcia was not hurt.

Compared with cases dealing with a retired jury, this is one in sharp contrast. Here, the conversation was known in full at a time when something could be done about it by counsel. There still was ample time for any appropriate motions and any curative instructions that might be necessary. Where a judge goes to the jury room, on the other hand, it is too late then to correct any mistake that might have been made.

Since a trial judge is not only permitted, but it is his duty, to participate directly in the trial and to facilitate its orderly progress, his remarks or conduct in performing his duty will not constitute error if they are such that do not discriminate against or prejudice the accused's case. 23 C.J.S. 987(a), page 337.

Respondent urges the absence of error in the instant case. Nevertheless, should the court consider the actions of Judge Jeppson and the juror improper, respondent still contends such error is not prejudicial.

In such event, the 1950 case of *People v. Woods*, (Calif.), 218 P.2d 981, would appear to be directly in point and its decision should be followed by this court. There the trial judge in chambers, in the presence of the reporter but the absence of defendant and both counsel, held a discussion with a certain juror. Largely, the conversation dealt with the behavior of the juror the previous day in making contact with the district attorney. However, it dealt also with matters of substantive law. The court was asked by the juror the question: "What is a hung jury?" The judge gave a full legal answer in response.

Regarding these circumstances the Supreme Court stated:

"\* \* \* Private communications between a judge and a juror with respect to matters related to the case are of course improper, but nothing took place in the conversation complained of which could possibly have prejudiced defendant and therefore it did not constitute reversible error."

An interesting case involving the conversation of a juror and a judge is that of *State v. Morris*, (Ore.), 114 P. 476. There a juror was approached with the offer of a bribe after testimony had ended but before argument. He tried to call the judge but failed and then talked to the prosecutor. The prosecutor called the judge. The judge and the juror and counsel for the state met at the police station and discussed the bribery attempt. The judge then proceeded to tell the juror not to allow the bribery try to affect his judgment in the case under consideration. The Oregon Supreme Court held this conversation not to be

prejudicial error as misconduct either of the judge or of the juror, even though it dealt somewhat with the case under consideration, and even though it was held outside the courtroom.

In *State v. Costales*, (N. Mex.), 19 P.2d 189, the judge sent a communication through the bailiff to the jury after it had retired. The rule against communication between judge and jury was treated there as follows:

"The rule has been greatly relaxed in modern times (16 C.J. 1165), and this is reflected in the decision of this court in *State v. Clements*, 31 N.W. 620, 249 P. 1003, 1008, where Mr. Justice Watson, speaking for the court, said: 'We cannot admit, therefore, that it is the law of this state that the bare fact of an unauthorized and improper communication necessitates in all cases a new trial, even in capital felonies. When it appears that there has been such communication, the important question is whether prejudice has resulted. Such a communication certainly requires explanation, not only to secure the accused his rights, but to maintain the court's authority. But if it satisfactorily appears that the communication was harmless and had no effect on the verdict, the rights of the accused do not require, and public interest does not permit, the granting of a new trial'."

In *Walter v. State*, (Okla.), 233 P. 240, where the judge answered a question of a retired jury through an intermediary, the court held that the communication was not of great importance and did not result in harm to the defendant and refused to hold that prejudicial error had occurred.

In *Lewis v. State*, (Okla.), 119 P.2d 91, the trial judge had a communication with jurors outside the courtroom in the absence of defendant or his counsel. While the court granted a new trial under the exact circumstances, it did go so far as to say that although there is a presumption of prejudice under the circumstances, the state may prove that the defendant was not prejudiced by reason of such misconduct. In *Green v. State*, (Okla.), 281 P.2d 200, the court again affirmed that the presumption of prejudice can be overcome by proper proof.

In the instant case, the court has adequately proven the absence of prejudice. The Utah court in an analogous case, *State v. Burns*, 79 U. 575, 11 P.2d 605, held that where the jury separated improperly, the state was entitled to show that no prejudice occurred therefrom. See also *People v. Alcalde*, (Calif.), 148 P.2d 627.

In *People v. Kasem*, (Mich.), 203 N.W. 135, the judge had a meal at the same table with jurors and his action was not deemed prejudicial.

In *State v. Newland*, (Mo.), 285 S.W. 400, a foreman went alone to the judge, asking about certain evidence. The judge declined to give information as to the evidence and the conversation was held to have been without prejudice.

Appellant cites a number of cases in this general area, but all of them can be distinguished easily from the one at hand.

The following are examples:

In *State v. Anderson*, 65 U. 415, 237 P. 941 (App. Brief, p. 8), a juror and the prosecuting witness had ridden together to and from court daily during the course of the trial. The effect was that the juror communicated with the prosecution, inasmuch as the witness was in continuous contact with counsel for the state. Here, in the Garcia case, the juror who talked with Judge Jeppson had no communication with any party to the action, but only with the one neutral in the courtroom. In the Anderson case the prosecuting witness performed a substantial service or favor for the juror, and this concerned the court. That is not so here.

In *Johnson v. Maynard*, 9 U.2d 268, 342, P.2d 884, the judge entered the jury room to answer a question, so the case is not in point.

In *State v. Thorne*, 39 U. 208, 117 P. 58, a juror talked with someone over the telephone after the case had gone to the jury. There was mystery as to the contents of this conversation, held with an unknown third party.

Unfortunately, the prosecution apparently made no effort to show that the conversation was not prejudicial—which it had a right to do, according to the following language of the court:

“\* \* \* It is enough that the state \* \* \* is permitted to show that the conduct, though wrongful and in disobedience of the statute and the directions



of the court, nevertheless was harmless, by showing all that was said and done, and by clearly and affirmatively showing that the accused was not, nor could have been, prejudiced thereby."

Here, Judge Jeppson put the whole substance of the conversation into the record and since it was not acted upon by counsel for either party and since he conveyed no information as to his own attitude toward either party, the verdict should not be disturbed.

In *State v. Crank*, 105 U. 332, 142 P.2d 178, the court did not go so far as to decide actually whether the conversation was reversible. There, too, it involved a juror and a prosecuting witness.

Appellant cites a number of cases in support of his proposition that appellant was denied due process in that he was not present at all stages of the proceedings. In *State v. Mortensen*, 26 U. 312, 73 P. 562, defendant refused to accompany the jury to the scene of the crime for a view of the premises. Notwithstanding this refusal, counsel on appeal claimed that the excursion to the site constituted a portion of the trial and that he was deprived of his rights to be present at all stages. The court then went on to state:

"\* \* \* but we are unable to concede that the view was either a part of the trial or the taking of evidence, within the contemplation of the Constitution or the statute."

The same rule should prevail here. The conversation between the judge and the juror was not a part of the trial

and appellant's absence therefrom did not constitute a denial of due process.

In the Mortensen case the court continued:

"\* \* \* This does not mean that the defendant must all the time be in the actual presence of the jury, but rather that he must be at the trial in court and in its presence. The court is the real thing, fixed and permanent. The jury is but a temporary adjunct for a partial purpose of the trial."

Counsel for appellant was present at the time the judge told the substance of the conversation. That *was* a part of the proceeding. The incidental conversation was not.

Appellant urges additional error in that the judge not only had the conversation with the juror, but also conveyed it to counsel. On the contrary, the placing of the conversation in the record brought all the facts to light and eliminated any mysterious circumstances that might otherwise have created doubt.

Appellant's quotation from *State v. Martinez*, 7 U.2d 387, 326 P.2d 102, is far afield from the case at hand. It deals with direct questioning of witnesses by jurors. Here, no such thing was attempted. The juror had no intention whatsoever to talk directly with any witness. He only wanted to know if counsel was going to introduce a certain tape recording in evidence. Even if the conversation here had been a direct one, without the judge as intermediary, it still would have been between the juror and an attorney and not between a juror and a witness.

Finally, neither side did anything at all about the information given by the judge. Therefore, if error did occur in the conversation, it was not prejudicial for the reasons set out above.

## POINT II

### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS NOR HIS MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.

While it is true that the state has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that a defendant is guilty, respondent believes that appellant has tortured the law in claiming the judge was obligated to dismiss the action as to him, or to direct a verdict in his favor.

If the court were to adopt appellant's theory that whenever the evidence indicates a "reasonable hypothesis" of innocence, the case should not be allowed to go to the jury, all normal criminal practice would be stifled and perhaps totally destroyed. Any defendant could be expected to conjure up such "evidence" as would constitute a prima facie "reasonable hypothesis" of innocence and the state's case would automatically dissolve. This is not the law in Utah.

It is true that if the state were to fail to produce evidence sufficient to make out the elements of the crime, the court would be justified in dismissing the action or directing a verdict. But that is not so here.

Our system of jurisprudence has from earliest times contemplated that a jury of a man's peers should find the facts of his case, with the law to be determined by the judge. It is the sole and exclusive province of the jury to determine the facts in all criminal cases, whether the evidence offered by the state be weak or strong, in conflict, or not controverted. Evidence may be ever so convincing that an accused is guilty or innocent of the crime charged, yet it is for the jury and not for the trial judge to render the verdict. See *State v. Green*, 78 U. 580, 6 P.2d 177.

Where there is adduced, in a criminal prosecution, competent evidence from which a jury can find beyond reasonable doubt that the defendant perpetrated the crime with which he is charged, there can be no error in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal. *State v. Peterson*, 121 U. 229, 240 P.2d 504.

Addressing itself to the three questions of motion to dismiss, motion for directed verdict, and motion for new trial, the court said in the recent case of *State v. Penderville*, 2 U.2d. 281, 272 P.2d 195:

"\* \* \* It has been repeatedly held by this court that upon a motion to dismiss or to direct a verdict of not guilty for lack of evidence that the trial court does not consider the weight of the evidence or credibility of the witnesses, but determines the naked legal proposition of law, whether there is any substantial evidence of the guilt of the accused, and all reasonable inferences are to be taken in favor of the state. \* \* \* As is pointed out in one or more of these cases, the trial court has a discretion in the case of a motion for a new trial that it does not have in case of a motion to dismiss or to direct

a verdict of not guilty. Nevertheless, in either case if there is before the court evidence upon which reasonable men might differ as to whether the defendant is or is not guilty, he may deny the motion."

Appellant uses *State v. Erwin*, 101 U. 365, 120 P.2d 285, to say that if the facts relied on by the state are not inconsistent with defendant's innocence, it is established as a matter of law. The court there affirmed the decision against appellant and went on to say:

"\* \* \* It is not necessary that each circumstance in itself establish the guilt of the defendant, but the whole chain of circumstances, taken together, must produce the required proof. *State v. Crawford*, 59 Utah 39, 201 P. 1030; *State v. Marasco*, 81 Utah 325, 17 P.2d 919; *Terry v. United States*, 9 Cir., 7 F.2d. 28; *State v. Burch*, Utah, 115 P.2d 911.

"On the other hand, if there is any substantial evidence which satisfies the above requirements, then the weight of the evidence is for the jury, and the court will not disturb the verdict. *State v. Lewellyn*, 71 Utah 331, 226 P. 261; *State v. Odekirk*, 56 Utah 272, 190 P. 777."

*State v. Lewellyn*, 71 U. 331, 266 P. 261, was an adultery prosecution. Defendant made a motion for directed verdict. The court said:

"In 16 C.J. 935, the conclusions of various courts are condensed in the statement:

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